R00171&R00172


PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN

Applicants
:
Mr F W Swannell & Mr B Pierce

Scheme
:
The Ripaults Limited Pension and Life Assurance Plan (the Scheme) FILLIN "Enter Scheme name" \* MERGEFORMAT 

Respondent
:
Norwich Union Life and Pensions Limited (NU)

MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. The complaint is that NU, as Administrator, caused the Applicants injustice and loss as a result of the following actions:

· failing to advise against and/or prevent the issue of four loans during 1989  (the Loans)

· failing to prevent the payment of excessive administration costs to the Trustees

· allowing the payment of excessive transfer values and benefits    

· failing to advise the Trustees regarding the winding up of the Scheme and the consequences of any delay.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

3. The two Applicants have, essentially, made the same allegations against NU and I have therefore decided to consolidate their applications and to deal with them at the same time. The complaint is also connected to two other complaints concerning the Scheme. One complaint (reference number K00422) has been brought by Mr Swannell against the former trustees of the Scheme, Mr Gavin Brown (a solicitor), Mr Max Sutton and Mr Stuart Villard (“the Trustees”). Mr Pierce has also brought a similar complaint ( reference number M00532) against the Trustees. I will deal with those issues in one or more later determinations. Whilst at this stage I am dealing only with the two Applications before me I have asked the Trustees to comment on the matters which I refer to. Comments were received from Mr Gavin Brown and Mr Sutton.  In the main, they express concern that my findings, in connection with these Applications, should not prejudice my view of their role in the conduct of the Scheme or impede their ability to refer to the reliance which they placed on the involvement of NU, when I come to consider the complaints made against them. My response to these concerns is that in this Determination I focus on the actions and responsibilities of NU. Inevitably this involves some consideration of the actions and responsibilities of the Trustees. However, I am not bound by precedent and, if, when I come to consider the complaints made against the Trustees, I conclude that I have reason to depart from any of my findings in these Applications which are relevant to the complaints against the Trustees, then I will do so. 

RELEVANT LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS

4. Section 146 (1) of The Pensions Schemes Act 1993 ( the Act) provides that

(1) The Pensions Ombudsman may investigate and determine the following matters-

(a) a complaint made to him by or on behalf of an actual or potential beneficiary of an occupational or personal pension scheme who alleges that he has sustained injustice in consequence of maladministration in connection with any act or omission of a person responsible for the management of the scheme.
(4) Regulations may provide that, subject to any prescribed modification or exceptions, this Part shall apply in the case of an occupational or personal pension scheme in relation to any prescribed person or body of persons where the person or body (a) is not a trustee or manager or employer but (b) is concerned with the financing or administration of, or the provision of benefits under, the scheme, as if for the purposes of this Part he were a person responsible for the management of the scheme.

5. The Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) Regulations 1996 as in force at the time of the events given rise to the complaint  include 

Regulation 1

(2) In these Regulations-

“administrator”-

(a) in relation to an occupational pension scheme means any person concerned with the administration of the scheme, other than a person responsible for the management of the scheme…… 

Regulation 2

“ The Pensions Ombudsman may investigate and determine a complaint concerning the administration of a personal or occupational pensions scheme made to him by or in respect of an actual or potential beneficiary of the scheme who alleges that he has sustained injustice in consequence of maladministration in connection with any act or omission of an administrator of the scheme.” 

6. Guidance Note GN9 Retirement Benefit Schemes- Actuarial Reports (Issued April 1984 with effect from 1 April 1987 and 1 April 1988).

Paragraph 4.1.2

Section 2 of the Statement requires an opinion from the actuary on the adequacy of the resources of the scheme “in the normal course of events”. In interpreting this expression at the date of each statement the actuary should take a prudent view of the future without taking into account every conceivable unfavourable development. The actuary should regard this as excluding the possibilities of events –including those external to the scheme- which he cannot reasonably be expected to have allowed for in a conservative approach to the matter.

Paragraph  4.2

Regulation 8(7) refers to the inter-valuation period. This is not designed to require the actuary to monitor the situation continuously; however, if he is made aware or becomes aware of developments which materially affect the continuing validity of the latest Statement then a revised Statement should be prepared and issued under Regulation 8(7).

7. Supplemental Definitive Deed and Rules dated 24 June 1981 ( the 1981 Deed) 

“9 (a) The Trustees may invest any money forming part of the Fund in or upon the security of stocks shares debenture stocks units……or other investments whatsoever and wheresoever situate whether or not involving liability or not producing income and whether or not authorised by law for the investment of trusts moneys as the Trustees think fit to the intent that the Trustees shall have full and unrestricted powers of investment hereunder in all respects including any powers of investment which they might exercise if they were absolutely entitled to the Fund beneficially.

12 Provided always as follows; (I) nothing herein or in the Rules contained shall authorise nor shall this Deed or the Rules be altered or modified so as to authorise the transfer or payment of any part of the Fund in any circumstance to any Participating Employer.”

MATERIAL FACTS

8. The Applicants were members of the Scheme. Mr Swannell retired in 1992. He took a lump sum payment and a reduced pension of £1,773.24, part of which (his GMP) benefited from increases of RPI subject to a maximum of 3%. I will refer to the balance of his pension over his guaranteed minimum pensions as his Excess Pension. With effect from 1 November 1999 he received only his GMP of £1,737.84.  At first this came from the Scheme but from 1 October 2001 SERPS took over responsibility for this payment. Mr Swannell claims to have suffered the loss of his Excess Pension since November 1999 and the opportunity to have his benefits augmented. As at February 2005 the amount of his Excess Pension was £49.36 per annum. 

9. Mr Pierce left the Scheme on 30 March 1990 and reached his normal retirement date on 10 November 2002. His GMP on retirement was £3,918.20 as opposed to a total pension of £6,892. He makes the same claims as to loss as Mr Swannell.

10. The Loans were made by the Scheme to Ripaults Limited (Ripaults), Ripaults Cables and Accessories Limited (Cables) which was one of Ripaults’ subsidiary companies and to Vergelake Limited (Vergelake) which was an associated company. Ripaults went into liquidation on 7 March 1990, Cables went into liquidation on 23 April 1993 and Vergelake went into liquidation on 7 November 1990. Only a small proportion of the Loans was recovered.

11. The effective date of the winding up of the Scheme was 23 April 1993, at which point the value of assets in the Scheme was only 20% of the value of the liabilities. The process of winding up did not start until 1999 on the appointment of the Independent Trustee. 

12. The Trustees and NU were Respondents to a complaint (reference number E00641) determined by my predecessor. The complaints in that case were that  NU had:

12.1. led the Trustees to believe that there was a surplus in the Scheme’s assets in excess of £850,000

12.2. failed to ensure that the Trustees were empowered to make the Loans to Ripaults, Cables and Vergelake

12.3. failed to protect the complainant’s interest as a retired member in allowing transfer values to be paid out of the Scheme and

12.4. advised the Trustees to move the Scheme assets to a deposit account fund and failed to advise that they should be returned to the managed fund.

13. My predecessor made the following findings:

“The valuation produced in September 1988 did not mislead the Trustees. It showed that on one basis the Scheme was actually in deficit. It advised the reintroduction of contributions and included a caveat following the stock market crash. I do not accept the claims of the Trustees that specific Actuarial advice was taken by them before each or any of the loans were made

…to the extent that the provisions of the Scheme prevent self –investment, that was a matter for the Trustees and in particular for Mr G as a professional trustee, and in the absence of a request for advice from ( Norwich Union), there are no grounds for finding (Norwich Union) guilty of maladministration in this regard.”

The primary responsibility for investment decisions lies with the Trustees. On the advice of the Actuary they transferred the assets into a deposit fund in February 1990. This would have been standard advice and standard good practice for a scheme whose principal employer had ceased trading. There is nothing from the documents I have seen to suggest that, at that stage, the Trustees instructed (NU) to provide ongoing investment advice. (NU) provided the Trustees with regular reports and, had the Trustees wished to consider alternative investments, it was open for them to request advice from (NU) or an independent adviser. They did not do so. On 20 June 1991 NU informed Mr S that as the assets were in a deposit fund they would not benefit from any upturn in the equities market. The Trustees took no steps to pursue the issue. Even if I were able to find ( NU) guilty of maladministration in this regard ( and there is certainly no sufficient evidence for me to do so) this would not have caused the complainant injustice. Any additional assets resulting from the investments in equities would first have to be used to secure benefits in full for all deferred members before consideration being given to any enhancement of the complainants pension”

As a pensioner (the complainant’s) basic benefits are (I understand) secured in full and therefore the payment out of the transfer values could not in any event cause him injustice”

14. The Scheme was established as a final salary scheme by Ripaults under a Definitive Trust Deed dated 4 August 1950 and amended by a number of supplemental deeds including the 1981 Deed. On 18 November 1986 the then company secretary of Ripaults, Mr E Marks, wrote to NU to say that it was the Trustees’ wish that the Scheme funds be transferred to the Norwich Union Managed Fund and that “the reduced administration service be undertaken by Norwich Union”. The same day, in a letter to Mercer Fraser (Mercers), who had previously provided actuarial and other services to the Scheme, Mr Marks confirmed that these were the Trustees’ wishes. NU responded on 11 December 1986 setting out the arrangements for the transfer of the existing master policy to its wholly owned subsidiary, Norwich Union Pensions Management Limited. The letter was signed by E J Brister, Pensions Manager and said that the Pensions Management Company would issue, in the names of the Trustees, a Managed Fund Master Policy, comprising units secured by the transfer value at the price ruling at the date of the investment.

15. In January 1987, the Occupational Pensions Board (OPB) wrote to NU acknowledging that there had been a change in the financial arrangements of the Scheme and specifying certain steps that needed to be taken to fulfil the OPB’s requirement for self administered schemes. The Trustees formal approval for the transfer to the Managed Fund was given in January 1987. This changed the nature of the Scheme from a fully insured scheme to a self administered scheme. 

16. On 2 March 1987 the Senior Pensions Administrator at NU wrote a four paged letter to Mr Marks setting out in detail “the principal administration changes and other matters of note”. He said that “The Norwich Union personnel handling your Pension Scheme prior to the 1 February 1987 will continue dealing and in addition my investment colleagues now become directly involved…for all claims I will provide full quotations as before, the only change will be that payment of benefits/premiums should be met directly by the Trustees…The normal procedure for meeting claims will be to deduct them from the normal monthly contribution….Should expenses plus the minimum contribution exceed the normal monthly contribution then the options open to the Trustees will be (a) to cash units….(b) to obtain a short term loan ( c) to seek an advance from the employer of future contributions…”. The letter set out the claims procedure for early leavers, deaths, and retirements: the anniversary procedure: accounting procedure: costs and other matters. With regard to costs, it was said that there would be a 50% reduction for the next three years on the Society’s annual charge for the full administrative service. NU undertook to forward monthly statements identifying how the monthly premium had been applied. The writer finished by saying “I feel that we will be working equally together here, although actual payment of liabilities as they arise can only be met by yourself. I will always endeavour to forewarn you of potential costs so that you have time to consider the most favourable option open to you to obtain the required monies.” 

17. NU have been unable to provide a copy of the terms and conditions of the Managed Fund Master Policy. However, they have provided a copy of the standard Managed Fund Policy (the Policy) which they say would have been issued in 2000. They say that the wording would have changed very little over the previous 13 years. The  Policy is issued by Morley Pooled Pensions Limited (MPP), a member of the NU Marketing Group and was issued in substitution of all or part of an existing policy entered into with NU.  It provides, inter alia, that:

1.1 This policy is issued ….and shall be held in the name of and by the Trustees of the Scheme subject to the Scheme’s Trust Deed and Rules

1.2.1 MPP agrees that to the extent that its funds and property relate to assets of the Scheme it will be liable for the sums payable in accordance with the terms of this Policy

1.2.2 Subject to 1.2.1 above the benefits payable under this Policy shall correspond with the liabilities of the Trustees under the Scheme insofar as those liabilities aim or are intended to be secured by the Policy. Any options or provisions in the Policy exercisable by the Trustees will be exercised only in such a manner and to the extent permitted by the Scheme provisions and in the form and at the time permitted by the Scheme provisions

1.3.1 This Policy sets out the arrangement for the application by MPP of the monies paid to it by the Scheme Trustees.

1.6 MPP may treat as definitive any written statement from the Trustees as to any of the provisions of the Scheme or as to the entitlement under the Scheme of any member

5.1 Unit Encashment

5.1.1. Following the receipt by MPP of a written request from the Trustees either:

(i) in respect of a particular Member

(ii) to surrender the Policy or any part of it

MPP shall cash such Units allocated to this Policy as it shall decide are necessary in order to provide in the case of i) the Sum assured in respect of such Member or in the case of ii) the amount required by the Trustees for the purposes of the Scheme.

5.2.1 MPP may at its discretion and subject to any Asset Transfer fee which it may charge transfer to the Trustees such assets as are equal in value to whichever is appropriate of all or part of the cash sum and “Payment” shall be construed accordingly.”

5.3  If in accordance with its Rules the Scheme commences to be wound up the trustees shall surrender this Policy in accordance with Paragraph 5.1. Any Payment to the Trustees as a result shall be used by them to provide such benefits as are specified in the Scheme’s Rules to be applicable on a winding up.

6.1 Administration Charge

6.1.1 In cases where (NU’s) administration services are used any premium received will be used in the first instance to meet the administration charge levied by (NU) and any other amounts required by (NU).

6.1.2 The administration charge will be such amount as shall be agreed between the Trustees and (NU) in respect of such administrative services as are provided by (NU).

18. In September 1988 an Actuarial Report and Valuation (the Valuation ) of the Scheme as at 1 July 1987 was produced by Norwich Union, signed by Mr Davies an actuary employed by NU, (the Actuary). The Valuation recorded that the active membership of the Scheme consisted of 114 male and 25 female employees. In addition there were 31 members with an average age of 49 with preserved benefits. Members’ contributions were noted as being 5% of Pensionable Salary and the employer’s contribution was 9.5%. Employer’s contributions had been paid up to 30 June 1986 since when nothing had been received. The Valuation noted that members’ contributions for the period from 1 July 1986 had not been paid to NU. 

19. The Valuation showed that the assets of the Scheme were invested in units of the managed fund of Norwich Union Pensions Management Ltd with a market value at 30 June 1987 of £2,496,356. In addition the Scheme held preference shares in Ripaults to the value of £25,530 (which was their value at the time of their purchase) and £179,695 still held with NU as at 30 June 1997, following the investment switch to a managed fund. 

20. The plan solvency assessment was based on the market value of the units held with NU but for the purposes of the Valuation on an ongoing basis, the market value was ignored and the investments were brought in at an amount consistent with the valuation basis adopted for liabilities giving a fund value of £2,399,522. On this basis, the “Projected Liability Valuation” showed the Scheme as having a deficiency of £1,225,789. The Valuation reported that if the Scheme had been discontinued at 30 June 1987, the discontinuance solvency level was 149% and the assets (based on market values) were more than sufficient to meet the then known liabilities by £897,582. It was noted that the projected deficiency would be eliminated if the employer rate of contribution were increased to 5.4%. The solvency level had been assessed without taking into account the stock market fall of October 1987.The Report accompanying the Valuation stated that, despite that fall,   “Scheme solvency will have been maintained” although did not specify at what level. 

21. The Valuation was addressed to the Trustees and included a note which said that no commission was payable following the switch to a Managed Fund. The fees for the actuarial advice contained in the report were said to be included in the Scheme’s administrative charges. 

22. On 5 July 1989  Mr Sutton ( who was the Finance Director and Secretary of Ripaults) and Mr Villard ( who was the Chairman and Managing Director of Ripaults) wrote to NU instructing NU to sell sufficient units to realise £200,000 and to transfer the proceeds to the Scheme’s bank account. A few days later, on 7 July, they wrote again, stating: 

“…As discussed earlier today by telephone we have revised banking instructions for the £200,000 to be realised as of 31 July 1989.”

The letter went on to say that the money was to be used to make an investment in Debenture stock in Cables secured on the assets of Cables with a repayment period of 30 months and an interest rate of 2% above base rate. The letter requested that  £200,000 be transferred from the Managed Fund with Norwich Union to the account of Cables. They also asked for NU to confirm by return and by fax that “…we hereby irrevocably undertake to forward to Midland Bank plc 19 High Street Northwich Cheshire 40-35-37 for the account Ripaults Cables and Accessories Ltd Account number 41096680 the sum of £200,000 on 1 August 1989.” This cancelled the instruction given in their letter of 5 July 1989. The money in respect of this loan ( Loan 1) was advanced on 1 August1989.

23. On 3 August 1989 Mr Sutton wrote to NU with instructions to release £200,000. The letter said:

“….it is the decision of the Trustees of the above Plan that you proceed with the sale of sufficient units of the Plan to realise £200,000. These monies will be used to make an investment in Debenture Stock of Ripaults Limited, secured on certain assets of the Company with a repayment period of 30 months and an interest rate of 2% above Base Rate. Could you please indicate when proceeds of this sale would be available since we would probably require you to confirm to Midland Bank that you would irrevocably undertake to transfer the proceeds to the Ripaults account with Midland at that date” 

The copy of that instruction provided to me by NU includes a manuscript note stating “phoned ( Mr S) and explained about self investment”. The loan ( Loan 2 ) was advanced on 19 August 1989. 

24. On 28 September Mr Sutton and Mr Villard wrote to NU that they wished to sell units in the Scheme to a value of £200,000 to make an investment in debenture stock of Vergelake secured on assets of that company. The money was to be paid by telegraphic transfer on 2 or 3 October to a specified account of Vergelake Ltd. The letter confirmed that Ripaults held a 42.9% shareholding in Vergelake. The money for the loan (Loan 3) was advanced in early October. 

25. On 1 November 1989 Mr Sutton sent a fax to Mr Gavin Brown  with brief details of the assets and liabilities of Vergelake. Under the heading “Re Pension Fund” he said: “Norwich Union after checking certain details, including I believe with the OPB agreed request as we discussed was in order and have proceeded accordingly”. He also set out the balance sheet for Vergelake as at 30 September 1989. This recorded net capital and reserves of £51,000. 

26. On 1 November 1989 Mr Sutton and Mr Villard wrote to NU requesting that £200,000 of units in the Scheme be sold and transferred to a Ripaults’ bank account. The money for the loan (Loan 4) was advanced in November and the debenture was completed on 1 December 1989, secured on property owned by Ripaults and situated in Holland.

27. On 27 November 1989 Mr Sutton and Mr Villard wrote to NU asking for £200,000 units in the Scheme to be sold in order to acquire debenture stock in Lobbycraft, a wholly owned subsidiary of Ripaults. (They were appointed director and secretary of Lobbycraft on 30 November 1989.) The letter went on to say: “I assume funds can be available for either the Friday 1 December 1989 or Monday 4 December 1989 at latest. The funds should be transferred to the following account….” In the event this loan did not proceed and a notice was issued by Companies House under section 652 of the Companies Act 1985, on 6 October 1992, that Lobbycraft would be struck off the register at the expiration of 3 months. 

28. On 29 November 1989, the Actuary who had prepared the Valuation wrote to Mr Sutton enclosing an “Actuarial Undertaking” which needed to be signed on behalf of the Employer and returned to enable him to produce an Actuarial Certificate of Solvency for the Pension Scheme for the OPB. A Statement relating to self investment was also required detailing the types and values of each item of self investment for the OPB.  The Actuary explained that this had been triggered by the Trustees’ decision to remove some of the assets from the Norwich Union Managed Fund over the last three months and to “self invest” these assets. In the undertaking the Employer undertook to notify NU as soon as practicable if there was a proposal to wind up the Scheme and amongst other matters to notify the Actuary in the event of any proposed change in the level of self investment. In this letter ( which was also sent by fax) the Actuary explained:

“On general grounds there is obviously no objection to investment in the employers’ business to the extent dictated by the normal requirements of a balanced portfolio, but it is in principle undesirable that too large a part of the Scheme should be so converted, because the accruing benefits would not then be backed by assets independent of the prosperity of the employer.  The member would be relying on the employer both for his continued employment and the security of his pension benefits and this is clearly undesirable.  An investment in the premises or other assets of the employer might not be open to such a strong objection provided that these assets were, in the last resort, marketable and would be equally valuable in other hands. Although it should not be necessary to take the self investments into account for solvency purposes as far as the Occupational Pensions Board is concerned these assets are needed to cover members entitlements should the Plan discontinue. The trustees should therefore be made aware of the comments made in the above paragraph when considering investment strategy. The Occupational Pensions Board are now likely to consider this Plan as Self-Administered. This will necessitate me producing an Actuarial Report on the Plan for the Occupational Pensions Board and the OPB may decide to make further enquiries regarding the concentration of investments.

In view of this I strongly recommend that no further Assets are removed from the “Norwich Union Managed Fund” until the report has been finalised.  The OPB also take the view that self-investment should not take place until the implications have been assessed by the Actuary and the OPB consulted if necessary.  To help complete the report I will also need the current market value of the “Self Investments.” and a note of any dividends and/or interest payable to the Pension Scheme.

Without wishing to prejudge the results of my Actuarial Report, it is likely that one of the recommendations will be that the current contributions holiday should cease. Your urgent co-operation in this matter would be most appreciated”

29. The same day, the Actuary sent a fax to the OPB enclosing this letter and asking for comments on the level of self-investment and in particular on the further requested loan of £200,000.

30. On 29 November 1989, Mr Sutton replied by fax to NU enclosing a summary of the units sold. He states: 

“This would seem to show that at least in the shorter term nothing has been done to diminish the underlying strength of the Fund. It may even be argued that in the shorter term our recent activity has been beneficial to the Fund…I confirm we would be prepared to make the most recent debenture for a 12 month period only if this was more acceptable to the Occupational Pensions Board.  It is however rather critical to us that we meet this month’s dealing date if at all possible.”

31. In a postscript to the fax Mr Sutton writes:

“I have just received your fax of the letter from R.D Davies – many thanks!

So far as I can see there is nothing therein which would prevent us selling the further units as proposed.  Nevertheless, I note your concern and will be able to send you the necessary details requested therein.  This should, however, not hold up this week’s proposed transaction.  The value of the “self-investments” to date is £800,000 – all in debenture stock and fully secured on assets of the various companies.  Now that the point on payment of interest net or gross is cleared all interest will be paid on due dates to the Fund – a separate bank account is being opened for this specific purpose.”

32. On 30 November 1989 the OPB wrote to the Actuary requesting further information.  He passed this to Mr Sutton who responded on 1 December 1989 that:

We still wish to pursue this request with urgency since we could have the Occupational Pensions Board agreement early next week it would make a critical difference to our forward planning ... If the requested £200,000 were approved only 23% of fund would be invested in Ripaults Ltd or its subsidiaries ...  Neither Ripaults Cables and Accessories or Vergelake Ltd is a subsidiary of Ripaults Ltd. Although Ripaults Cables and Accessories Ltd supplies electrical cables etc mainly to the automotive market it has no production facilities and is a distribution company. Vergelake Ltd has similarity in production or market segment with Ripaults. All debentures are well secured, are for between 6 and 30 months duration and are at a competitive interest rates.”

This letter was passed by the Actuary to the OPB on 5 December 1989. In December 1989 Midland Bank gave Ripaults 28 days to repay its overdraft facilities. 

33. On 10 January 1990 Mr Sutton wrote on Vergelake notepaper to NU requesting that a letter be provided to Vergelake to help Vergelake to “secure a significant contract”, in the following terms. (It is unclear whether NU in fact provided the letter requested)

“We confirm that [NU] on behalf of your Managed Pension Fund have injected £800,000 into [Ripaults] and associated companies.  We understand that these monies have been secured against the companies assets and are being used for the financing of major contracts.  Because of their confidentiality we have not been informed of the nature of these contracts.”

34. On 10 January 1990 the OPB wrote to Mr Sutton, acknowledging receipt of his letter of 1 December 1989 which it said had been passed to “the scheme’s actuary, Mr R D Davies of Norwich Union”  asking why the level of self investment was so high ( then 30%) and

“upon what grounds the trustees decided to invest such a large proportion of the fund in this way.  Would the trustees also like to indicate whether they considered this to be a prudent investment of the pension fund and one which offers the best available use of the funds resources?”.

35. The Actuary responded to the OPB on 29 January 1990 attaching a letter detailing the amount of self-investment.  He stated that the current fund value, excluding the £800,000 self investment amounted to £1,800,000 but that

“at this moment in time I am unable to advise whether or not I can disregard the self investment in relation to the priority liabilities….One point I must raise is that the Norwich Union have been asked by the Trustees to calculate the cost of “buying-out” the liability for the existing annuitants.  Whilst this removes the liability from the fund for these annuitants, there would be a reduction in assets held by Norwich Union which would significantly increase the percentage of the assets that are self invested. According to our administration records no contributions have been received since July 1988”.

36. On 20 February the Actuary wrote to the Trustees that he had heard from the OPB that Ripaults was going into voluntary liquidation. He expressed his concern about the investments made by the Trustees in the three companies as it seemed likely that some of the assets would be needed for the priority liabilities on the winding up of the Scheme and asked, as a matter of urgency, for information about the current position on these investments and their anticipated value. He suggested that it would be prudent to move the Scheme assets which were held under the NU Managed Fund Contract and were linked to the stock market, to a deposit account. He also suggested that they may wish to consider buying out existing pensioners benefits on currently favourable immediate annuity rates and that he would organise a quotation on that basis.

37. On 26 February 1990 Mr Sutton informed NU that Ripaults was going into liquidation, that it was not envisaged that the Scheme would be wound up and that it was expected that the Scheme would, in due course, be fully repaid for its investments. He asked for further details of the cost of taking out annuities for the current pensioners.  

38. The Actuary responded on 6 March 1990.  He stated:

“I note that it is not envisaged that the Scheme will be wound up.  However you will note from my letter of 1 February 1990 that I recommended contributions to the Scheme for both employer and employee should be paid to the Norwich Union, back dated to July 1989.  This recommendation still applies.  Could you please inform me of your intended action…”.

39. On 7 March 1990 Ripaults went into voluntary liquidation. A Mr Griffiths of Grant Thornton was appointed Liquidator. One of the matters which the Liquidator was asked to consider was the validity of the pension fund debentures. 

40. On 18 May 1990 the Actuary wrote to Mr Crisp at Mercers referring to a recent telephone conversation between them and to the fact that Mr Crisp was in contact with Mr Sutton in his  “capacity as adviser to the Trustees”. The Actuary asked for clarification about what was to happen to the Scheme, about the self investments following the liquidation of Ripaults and for information regarding contributions to be paid into the Scheme in respect of both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions. He said that he had written to Mr Sutton on these matters on various occasions and asked Mr Crisp to endeavour to get this information from Mr Sutton which he urgently needed to provide to the OPB. 

41. On 29 May Mercers replied to Mr Davies: 

“ ..I can confirm we are in contact with Max Sutton of Ripaults Limited and are at present discussing the future status of the scheme. During a meeting we had with Mr Sutton last week he agreed to go back to his fellow trustees to obtain their consent to one or two suggestions we made and are expecting a reply within the next couple of weeks. Given the current status of the Scheme will you please ask the OPB to extend the deadline with regard to the actuarial certificate for a further month. Perhaps I can suggest we arrange a meeting in say 2 to 3 weeks time between yourself, Max Sutton of Ripaults and ….”

42. On 25 May 1990 the Actuary sent a fax to Mr Sutton giving him a new quotation for the cost of buying out benefits in the Scheme and asking for Mr Sutton’s confirmation on return that he wished to proceed with buying out the pensioners benefits. On 30 May 1990, Mr Sutton forwarded this fax to Mr Gavin Brown asking for his confirmation. Mr Gavin Brown responded the same day stating that he was hesitant to agree to the buy-out without getting advice from “the consulting actuaries” (I presume from the context in which he uses this term that he means the Actuary) as follows:-

“Is it in the interest of the pensioners to be bought out?

Why?

Is it in the interest of the current members for the old pensioners to be bought out?

Why?”

43. In an attendance note dated 31 May 1990 Mr Gavin Brown wrote about a telephone conversation with Mr Sutton in which Mr Sutton confirmed that the Actuary had confirmed that it was not detrimental to buy out the annuities for pensioner or existing members.  His attendance note records that he agreed the buy-out of annuities which took place on 1 June 1990. 

44. On 1 June 1990 Mr Sutton wrote to the Actuary confirming that the principal employer of the active members of the Scheme was now Cables.  He asked the Actuary to complete the documents necessary to make the change. On 6 June Mr Davison, a Pensions Documentation Consultant employed by NU, wrote to Mr Sutton to say that he would normally prepare the amending documentation for the Trustees to sign but that NU were no longer responsible for the documentation and had not been since 1987. He said that this was dealt with by Mercers and suggested that Mr Sutton contact them to prepare the necessary documentation. Mercers sought information from NU on 9 July 1990 to enable them to prepare the documentation needed although the writer wrote that he imagined that “ the bulk of the questions re contributions etc will be filled in by the client”. In the event, the necessary documents were never finalised.

45. During 1990 Mr Swannell was in correspondence with the Trustees about his pension quote which the Trustees were obtaining from NU. NU replied to a letter from Mr Swannell on 1 January 1990 saying that as the policy to which he referred formed part of the contract between them and the Trustees, they could not disclose the information requested without the Trustees’ written consent and so NU was forwarding the letter to the Trustees for their attention. Subsequent correspondence with Mr Swannell about his pension was between him and Mr Sutton and, although the quote which was eventually issued was on NU headed paper, it advised Mr Swannell to address all correspondence concerning the matter to Mr Sutton. The form with details of Mr Swannell’s leaving employment was signed by Mr Sutton as “Pensions admin & Trustee”. 

46. On 22 June the Actuary wrote to Mr Sutton with details of the current value of the assets and liabilities of the Scheme following the buy–out in respect of the existing annuitants. He said that he had also calculated the cost of buying out the deferred annuitants but that without taking into account the self investments there would be insufficient money held with NU to take this action and still have money to cover the liabilities of the live members. He asked whether interest was being paid on the Loans and said that it would be useful to know exactly how much Scheme money was in the Trustees’ account. The letter ended by asking Mr Sutton whether he felt that a meeting would be of benefit to discuss the outstanding matters and the future of the Scheme and if so to telephone the Actuary.

47. A meeting was held on 4 July 1990 between Mr Sutton, the Actuary, a member of the NU Group Pensions Actuarial Service and a member of the NU Group Pensions Administration Service. The minutes of the meeting record that Mr Sutton confirmed that the employer (I presume this should be “employee”) contributions for the current membership were being collected and paid into the Trustees’ Bank Account and that the balance on the account, even after deductions for outstanding amounts, would be at least £30,000. There was discussion about the information required for the issue of the Actuarial Certificate which was due to expire and without which the Scheme’s contracted-out basis would be cancelled. Mr Sutton was asked to provide an up to date membership list. The Actuary said that payment of employee contributions (both past and future) to NU would be seen in a good light by the OPB . Reminders were sent to Mr Sutton on 23 August and 14 September. The letter of 23 August referred to the need to provide the up to date position regarding “any proposal to wind up the Scheme”  

48. On 26 October the Actuary wrote to Mr Sutton that 

“the full entitlements for members are only covered if the assets held with Norwich Union and the self investments are taken together. The assets held with Norwich Union represent approximately 60% of the discontinuance liabilities of the Plan thus if the full transfer values are paid out of the Norwich Union funds this would mean that those members remaining would be even more dependant on the value of the self investments for their benefits.”

The Actuary added that ultimately it was a decision for the Trustees to put a value on the self investments but that until this was established it would be prudent either to offer reduced transfer values of approximately 60% of current value or to advise members to defer taking transfer values until the self investment position was resolved. 

49. On 31 October 1990 the OPB wrote to Mr Sutton concerning the documentation to change the name of the principal employer on the Contracting-Out Certificate. Mr Sutton was advised that the current Certificate was invalid and would have to be cancelled with effect from 7 March 1990 unless the necessary documentation was received.

50. According to the Minutes of a Meeting (prepared by Mr Gavin Brown) held between Mr Gavin Brown, Mr Sutton and the Actuary, on 1 November 1990 at the offices of NU 
“Mr Davies explained that as soon as a person comes of pensionable age they then have a prior right on the fund. This means that the liabilities of the Pension Fund are increasing the whole time as persons reach 65. At present the OPB have been advised that they only have about 85% cover for the absolute liabilities and the absolute liabilities are about £685,000. This equates to the statutory minimum that pensioners will be entitled to under the State Scheme. ……Mr Davies explained the difference between transfer and buy out….Buy out is done on a blanket basis but a transfer is done on an individual basis whereby the pensioner is entitled to call for his transfer sum…In the case of the transfer we can tell pensioners that we cannot pay 100% of the transfer value. For example at present we would probably only be able to offer 60% of the transfer value. That might well trigger an investigation through the OPAS and the OPB at the insistence of disgruntled pensioners…..….alternatively if we received back some of the Debenture money we could offer transfer values to all pensioners of say 90%”.

Mr Davies emphasised the importance of Cables paying the interest under the Debenture and also paying in the contributions of the current members. If this did not happen shortly he felt that the OPB would investigate”.

51. On 25 May 1991 the Actuary wrote a four page letter to Mr Sutton with a schedule of transfer values of active members, pensioners and members with deferred pension benefits based on their full transfer value and a minimum value akin to their GMP only. He observed that even on the latter basis the assets were only just sufficient to cover the liabilities. He said;

“ The figures are of course based only on the assets held on deposit with NU and the Trustees may by now know the fate of the other investments. It is for the Trustees to decide what transfer value should be offered to each member and to what extent the value of the other investments can or should be taken into account, bearing in mind that payment of transfer values above the “Protected Rights” amount would further reduce the security for the benefits of the remaining members” 

52. On 23 July 1991 Mr Gavin Brown wrote to inform NU that, after protracted litigation with the Liquidator of Ripaults, the Trustees had recovered a sum of £173,879.31 with a possible further recovery of £63,362.01 from the two debentures that the Trustees held in respect of Ripaults (Loans 2 and 4) totalling £400,000.  The letter continues:

“This was obviously a disappointing result but the basic problem was due to the recession… the Liquidator has failed to recover anything like the estimated amounts due on the Company’s stock with a result that the preferential creditors absorbed a large part of the funds available.  

As you probably know the amount of £200,000 lent to Vergelake is probably irrecoverable as that Company went into liquidation there will be no surpluses.

We are taking steps to safeguard and recover the investments in Ripaults Cables & Accessories Limited and I will keep you informed as matters proceed.”

53. In a letter to Mr Sutton of 16 August 1991 Mrs Gamble the Pensions Documentation Consultant at NU wrote that she was unable to respond to certain questions from the Superannuation Fund Office (SFO) as NU had not been responsible for the documentation of the Scheme since 1987 when Mercers took it over. However, she said that Mercers had informed NU that they no longer dealt with the documentation. In the circumstances she asked Mr Sutton to respond to the SFO’s questions as a matter of urgency. 

54. In September 1991 Mr Sutton wrote to Mr Gavin Brown enclosing a work sheet showing the transfer value amounts paid out, further amounts required and possible further amounts which would be required. He asked if he should send him these worksheets monthly.

55. On 19 May 1992 Mr Sutton wrote to the Actuary with various comments on his draft Actuarial Report and said that since July 1991 approximately £165,000 had been paid out in transfers from the Scheme. The Actuary replied commenting that there appeared to be some confusion in the interpretation of transfer values and that the basis on which transfer values should be calculated depended on whether there was a bulk transfer or an individual transfer was required. He said that a colleague would be writing to Mr Sutton with figures and an explanation. On 30 June the Senior Pensions Administrator at NU wrote to Mr Sutton with information and a list showing the current transfer values, protected rights transfer values and member contributions paid to date for all live members of the Scheme, based on earlier data provided by Mr Sutton.

56. On 29 September 1992, Mr Sutton sent a cheque for £52,690 to Pearl Assurance in respect of Mr Villard’s preserved pension benefits in the Scheme. According to NU this represented a transfer value of £37,328, which was 90% of the full value of benefits accrued to 31 May 1992. The remainder of the payment related to transfer values from previous schemes.

57. On 22 January 1993, following the resignation of Mr Davies, Mr Peters his successor as Actuary wrote to the Trustees that he had now “ taken over the actuarial responsibility for the Plan”. He sent the Trustees a copy of the Actuarial Report as at 1 July 1991 which he had forwarded to the Pension Schemes Office ( PSO). This stated that the Trustees held preference shares in Ripaults valued at £25,530 at the time of their purchase.  At the time of the Report the Actuary placed a nil value on these shares. The Report indicated that only £135,000 of the Loans had been repaid following the liquidation of Ripaults; that there was a bank deposit account of £167,372 inclusive of repayment of £135,000; that the market value of investments in units of the Deposit Fund of Norwich Union Pensions Management Ltd was £856,000 as at 30 June 1991, that the total assets of the Scheme were £1,023,372 and that there was a liabilities exceeded assets by £467,000. Part of the money received on the liquidation of Ripaults was used to repay Loan 2 and the balance unpaid of £63,366 was transferred to Cables and secured by a debenture over the assets of that company in July 1991. 

58. The Report also stated that: 

“As part of the review we have investigated the solvency position of the Plan and conclude that if the Plan had been wound up as at 30 June 1991 the assets...would have been sufficient to meet only 71% of the liabilities except for the pensioners who are assured to be 100% secured.” 

59. Mr Peters went on to comment in his letter that he found “the position extremely disturbing. I understand that you have in the recent past authorised transfer values of 90%…in my view the position must have deteriorated since 1991 in view of the transfer payments that have been made and the lack of further contributions since that time. I am very concerned therefore that the assets will run out before all members’ (including pensioners) benefits have been settled”. He expressed the view that NU was not responsible for providing a documentation service and had not been for a number of years.

60. The letter was addressed to the Trustees c/o Mr Sutton and Mr Gavin Brown does not believe that it was forwarded to him at the time.  Mr Gavin Brown was aware that Mr Peters had recently replaced Mr Davies as Actuary and the Trustees had already received a draft of the valuation enclosed with the letter.

61. On 12 February 1993, Mr Sutton replied saying that the Trustees also were concerned at the level of funding required to meet the various commitments. He requested certain calculations  and also said “Could I also perhaps clarify one item which may be a point of misunderstanding. The 90% transfer value is not 90% of the current value but is 90% of the values quoted by Norwich Union in 1991. This will naturally equate to a much lower percentage of current transfer values”.

62. On 5 March 1993 the Actuary wrote to the Trustees again saying that he was very concerned about solvency levels, primarily that the assets would run out before all members benefits have been settled. He repeated his concerns about the transfer payments made and asked for a copy of the Trustees’ Minute confirming what transfer values could be paid from the funds held by NU so that it could then begin to settle outstanding claims. He urged the Trustees to consider the whole future of the Scheme and suggested that they might like to buy out the benefits for remaining annuitants. He also wrote 

“There are some issues arising out of the transfer in February 1987 by the Trustees to a Norwich Union Management Limited contract which appear to be causing confusion between the Trustees and Norwich Union. The transfer was on the advice give to the Trustees by W.M Mercer Frazer”. 

63. A few days later, Mr Gavin Brown wrote to Mr Sutton, 
“I refer to our telephone conversation last week, about the payment of the transfer values to Dave Davis, Mike Tilley and several others. I appreciate that because of falling interest rates the balance of the funds might prove insufficient to pay 90% transfer values to all the remaining members but in my opinion we are legally bound to pay the present batch and you should do so right away.”

64. On 8 April 1993 a petition for the compulsory winding-up of Cables was presented.

65. Shortly afterwards, the OPB wrote to NU to say that NU should not pay out any further transfer payments from the fund without OPB approval and on 4 June 1993 OPB wrote to Mr Sutton in similar terms. In June 1993 there was a meeting between the Trustees, and the Actuary, an NU pensions solicitor, NU actuarial and administration staff. According to a note prepared by NU, NU explained the services it provided. It said that these were residual administration and some actuarial services, simple valuations and statutory information /certification to the PSO and OPB. The provision of a documentation service was lost in 1987, apparently to Mercers when the Scheme switched from insured to self administered. According to a note of the meeting prepared by Mr Gavin Brown he said it was “news to the Trustees” that NU were not giving actuarial advice but were only giving actuarial information as NU claimed. 

66. There was confusion about the role of Mercers, with the Trustees saying that they believed that Mercers had ceased to act in 1986. There was also discussion about transfer values and the Trustees confirmed that these were being reduced to the appropriate percentage shown in the actuarial report (71%). There was also discussion about buying out annuitants and the NU solicitor said that it was down to the Trustees whether or not to buy out the benefits as the Scheme was self-administered rather than insured. There was also discussion about NU’s fees which had not been billed or paid. These amounted to  £11,157 to the end of June 1993 and the Trustees agreed to pay these by the beginning of July. The Trustees were also to provide NU with a note of the current membership so that NU could verify the membership. According to Mr Gavin Brown’s note “ At present the Fund is valued at about £800,000 and therefore is very insolvent ….If he (Malcolm Peters) was unable to sign the Actuarial Certificate he was not quite sure what the OPB would do but he thought that the Fund would have to be wound up….”

67. On 9 September 1993 the NU solicitor wrote to Mr Gavin Brown concerning the position of the Principal Employer. The letter referred to the meeting with the Trustees held earlier in June when the Trustees had mentioned to NU that Cables had assumed the position of Principal Employer under the Scheme. The letter said that NU had no documentation reflecting the covenant between the Trustees and Cables in relation either to Associated Employer or Principal Employer status and asked Mr Gavin Brown to clarify the position and supply copies of the relevant documents. The writer suggested that if Cables had not become the Principal Employer then the date for establishing the members’ rights to benefits was the date of the appointment of the liquidator of Ripaults.  The letter said that as Cables had recently gone into liquidation, the Independent Trustee provisions of the Social Security Act 1975 would probably apply and asked for the name of the Independent Trustee who had been appointed and whether the insolvency practitioner appointed had been appraised of the position concerning the Scheme. He also listed the priority order which would apply under the Rules of the Scheme on a winding up.
68. On 17 September 1993 the Actuary wrote to Mr Sutton having completed a valuation of the assets and priority liabilities of the Scheme as at 1 August 1993. The letter indicated that there were insufficient funds to meet liabilities on both a protected rights transfer valuation and on a full entitlement buy out which the Actuary commented “ is very disturbing indeed”. As a result of this information the Actuary said that he would be writing to the Pensions Scheme Office and the OPB to notify them and request their assistance in resolving the outstanding problems. He was also unable to produce and sign a revised Actuarial Certificate which required him to certify that on a scheme discontinuance in the next five years that certain liabilities could be met from the assets. He listed 5 items and concluded “As the balance sheet shows even the contracted out liability is not covered, therefore a revised certificate cannot be prepared.” 

69. During 1996 and 1997, instructions were given by the Trustees to NU to surrender units to the value of £24,000 to be paid to the Trustees for administrative expenses. On 17 April 1997, a Service Manager at NU wrote to Mr Villard to say that it had recently come to his attention that their Investment Management team had recently been asked to draw cheques in favour of the Trustees for “administrative expenses”. He asked for clarification of exactly what expenses were being claimed as “Norwich Union provide administrative services for this Scheme”
70. According to an MFR Valuation prepared by Aon Consulting as at 30 June 2000 the effective date of the winding up of the Scheme was 23 April 1993 (the date Cables went into liquidation). However, the process of winding up did not start until Mr Herbert, the former Independent Trustee, was appointed in Sept 1999. The value of the Scheme assets at April 1993 was 20% of the amount of liabilities of the Scheme.  Liability to pay premiums to secure guaranteed minimum pensions ("GMPs") arose in relation to the Scheme on 7 March 1990, the effective date of the cancellation of the Contracting Out Certificate although the cancellation document was not issued until October 1992.  The premiums at that time were estimated to be £1,050,000.  However, since 1990, pensions had been secured and transfers out had been made, including the GMP element of the benefit.  No state scheme premiums had been paid. 

SUBMISSIONS

71. Were NU acting as administrator?

71.1. The Applicants  say :

71.1..1. Throughout the period NU provided professional services to the Trustees. In particular they provided actuarial services, investment advice in relation to moving the assets of the Scheme to a deposit fund in 1990 and in relation to the buying out of pensioners’ benefits in 1993 and administrative services.

71.1..2. Although there is no evidence that NU were formally appointed in writing by the Trustees to provide actuarial advice and administration services, the actions of NU between 1989 and 1993 indicate that NU was providing actuarial services and administration services. For instance, in March 1989 Mr Davies produced an Actuarial Report for the Trustees and charged the Trustees for the production of the Report. The correspondence indicates that the Trustees last instructed Mercers regarding the switch of Scheme investments to the Norwich Union Managed Fund in 1987. There is no evidence that N U has ever set out their actuarial services and if there was any unilateral variation of the services offered by them or their role changed, the Trustees were not made aware of this fact.

71.1..3. After the self investments had been made, Mr Davies and his successor warned the Trustees repeatedly of the funding position of the Scheme and met on a regular basis with the Trustees to inform them verbally of the funding position.

71.1..4. Mr Peters’ letter of 22 January 1993 suggests that both he and his predecessor considered themselves to be actuarial advisers to the Scheme until it became insolvent on 23 June 1993. It was only at this point that it was brought to the attention of the Trustees that they were only providing actuarial services limited to the advice required by the Inland Revenue and the DSS. At no time prior to that date did NU confirm that they did not provide actuarial advice. Prior to that date they only confirmed that they did not produce documentation for the Scheme.

71.1..5. They do not accept NU’s allegation that Mercers provided actuarial advice to the Trustees. The letter dated 29 May 1990 from Mercers refers to Mr Sutton in his capacity as director of Ripaults therefore possibly Mercers was advising him in his capacity as a director rather than trustee. Also Mercers do not refer to themselves as actuarial advisers to the Trustees.

71.2. NU say:

71.2..1. Although the complaint against NU was originally accepted for investigation in March 2001, in the light of the case of Britannic Asset Management Limited v Pensions Ombudsman (2002) 90 PBLR (the Britannic case),  I should consider, as  a preliminary matter whether the acts or omissions which are the subject of the complaint are acts or omissions “ concerned with the administration of the scheme”  so as to confer jurisdiction on me under section 146 (4) of the Act. They say that:

71.2..2. They were only acting as administrators and were not concerned with the administration of the Scheme. They were simply complying with their contractual obligations under the Policy

71.2..3. In following the divestment instructions of the Trustees in making the Loans and also in paying out administration expenses and transfer values they were not acting as administrators but merely properly following instructions from the Trustees as to how they wished the trust assets to be dealt with;

71.2..4. As in the Britannic case, NU had no right or obligation to inquire into the propriety of the Trustees’ decision to issue the Loans and pay the administration expenses where there was no knowledge of impropriety. In respect of the transfer values, having indicated to the Trustees what the solvency position of the Scheme was, it was not appropriate for NU to obstruct the transfer payment requests made by the Trustees prior to the formal winding up of the Scheme by the Trustees.

71.2..5. They accept that from February 1987 they provided administration services albeit in a limited capacity and that one of NU’s employees acted as actuary to the Scheme to a limited degree between 1989 and 1993. His advice was limited to actuarial advice required by the Inland Revenue and the DSS. Since 1995 an actuary would be appointed as “Scheme Actuary” but before 1995 a number of actuaries could advise the trustees of a scheme, as was the case here. NU did not act as the Scheme Actuary.  The overall fee charged by NU included an element for this service as the actuary did not charge a separate fee.

71.2..6. They did not issue any invoices for services rendered for the Trustees after 1987. Although a decision was made to charge for their services, they received very little work for the Scheme as a result of the fact that administrative services were being conducted by other parties.

71.2..7. They are unable to trace any terms and conditions of a contract or policy entered into with the Trustees in 1987. However they have provided the Policy referred to above.

71.2..8. The Trustees were also obtaining actuarial advice from Mercers . At the time a number of actuaries could advise trustees in relation to a single scheme. In this way NU provided some actuarial services to the Trustees while Mercers provided other supplementary actuarial services as well as the documentation service. The Trustees were aware that NU only provided limited actuarial advice and administrative services as the letter from Mr Marks to Mercers of 18 November 1986 makes clear. 

71.2..9. Notwithstanding that the Trustees were obtaining advice from other sources, NU provided efficient and timely information to the Trustees to determine with their advisers what appropriate action to take in connection with their responsibilities to the Scheme. In other words it was not as a result of improper or insufficient actuarial information from NU that the Trustees proceeded with the Loans, with the transfer values and authorised the payment of administrative expenses or that they failed to take action to wind up the Scheme.

71.2..10. From 1987 the Scheme invested funds in the NU Managed Fund on a self administered basis rather than on a fully insured basis. The choice of investment was the responsibility of the Trustees and in the absence of further directions, once the funds had been transferred to the Deposit Fund, NU acted correctly in retaining the Scheme assets in the Deposit Fund.

71.2..11. My predecessor has already decided that NU was not engaged to provide ongoing investment advice. The claims that NU failed to advise/ prevent the Loans and allowed payment of incorrect transfer values and benefits has already been considered by my predecessor and should therefore be disregarded.

71.2..12. In respect of investments held under the Scheme they held members records and also calculated benefits derived from those investments based on information provided by the Trustees. The Trustees paid the benefits to members and were responsible for member statements. They had to hold scheme member records as provided by the Trustees in order to assist them in their need to provide member benefits from the investments held by NU 

71.2..13. The duties of the Trustees differed greatly from those of NU. The role of the trustees is to hold the scheme assets and to apply them for the benefit of scheme members in accordance with the trust documents, general trust law and overriding legislation. It was therefore NU’s duty to assist the Trustees and to act on their instructions.

Failure to advise against (or prevent) the issue of the Loans,

72. The Applicants say:

72.1. NU failed to advise the Trustees regarding the financial consequences of issuing the Loans; the effect on the funding of the Scheme of the self investments; and the position of the funding of the Scheme if such self investments were not repaid.

72.2. NU failed to prevent the Loans from taking place in full knowledge that they were in breach of trust; that they were bad investments having regard to the financial state of the Scheme; that they were improper investments to make in view of the financial status of Ripaults and its associated companies; and that they would create an excessive concentration of investments.

72.3. As Scheme Actuary, NU was well aware that the funding of the Scheme was 149% in surplus on a discontinuance basis, but only 92% funded on an ongoing basis.

72.4. NU only queried the extent of the Loans in their letter of 29 November 1989 once they had been made and once Mr Sutton and Mr Villard requested a further £200,000 to Lobbycraft Limited. The Actuary was concerned that the self investments would be needed to cover the members’ entitlements should the Scheme discontinue. If this was a concern why was the issue not raised with the Trustees before £800,000 was loaned from the Scheme’s assets. As Scheme Actuary, NU should have made the Trustees aware that if the Loans were not repaid, the Scheme would be underfunded on a discontinuance basis.

72.5. Three months later in his letter, dated 20 February 1990, the Actuary advised the Trustees that the self investments would be needed to cover the priority liabilities if the Scheme were to wind up. This differs from his earlier advice. The funding position had dramatically worsened and he was then advising the Trustees that only 60 % of the discontinuance liabilities of the Scheme could be covered if the self –investments were not included in this calculation. If the self investments were to have such a dramatic and sudden effect on the funding of the Scheme it is surprising that the Scheme Actuary did not advise against self investment.

72.6. Although NU may have expressed concern to the OPB about the financial consequences of issuing the Loans, this was only after four loans had been authorised by the Trustees and paid to the respective companies.

72.7. If  NU were not privy to the details of the loan arrangements this was because  they just authorised the Loans without requesting this information. As actuarial adviser they should have requested this information.  

73. NU say:

73.1. They did not act as legal or investment adviser to the Trustees. They expressed concern about the Loans to the Trustees on 29 November 1989 and promptly involved the OPB.

73.2. They did not have a duty to prevent the Loans. There is no evidence of dishonesty by NU as would be required by the case of Royal Brunei Airlines Sdn Bhd v Tan (1995) 2AC 378 for such a claim to succeed.

73.3. The decision to make the Loans rested with the Trustees. Mr Villard and Mr Sutton had intimate knowledge of the various companies and Mr Gavin Brown appeared to have been advising the Trustees and prepared the debentures. NU were merely complying with their contractual obligations under the Policy in following the Trustees’ instructions in paying out the Loans.

73.4. The OPB, in its letter to NU of 5 January 1987 confirmed that the Scheme would be subject to the Board’s requirements for a self administered scheme following the change in financial arrangements for the Scheme with effect from 31 December 1986.

73.5. They were never asked (and given their limited administrative role could never have been expected in the absence of an express request) to advise on the merits for the Scheme of this type of investment. Clearly after a series of such loans had been made the Actuary had some concerns about the level of “self investment” and appropriately raised these concerns with the Trustees in his letter of November 1989. 

Alleged failure to prevent the payment of excessive administrative expenses to the Trustees.

74. The Applicants say that the administration of the Scheme was undertaken by NU at all times but NU say:

74.1. There is no evidence that it failed to follow proper procedures

74.2. From 1989 the Scheme invested funds in the NU Managed Fund on a self administered basis rather than on a fully insured basis. This was on the basis of limited administrative and actuarial services from NU. It is not therefore surprising that the Trustees incurred administrative and actuarial expenses from sources other that NU.

74.3. NU were simply complying with their contractual obligations in paying out these sums.

75. The Applicants say:

75.1. There was maladministration by NU in:  

75.1..1. failing to ensure that the Trustees took appropriate actuarial advice, and in issuing  cheques for transfer amounts identified by Mr Sutton without reference to the actuary to the Scheme; 

75.1..2. Allowing transfer values to be paid, including GMP’s, in full knowledge that the Contracting Out Certificate had been withdrawn and that the GMPs had to be secured through the payment of a state scheme premium.

75.2. The Applicants acknowledge that NU advised the Trustees to pay lower transfer values than the full values due to the circumstances of the self investments. The Actuary was aware that the Trustees were calculating their own transfer values. On 9 May 1992 Mr Sutton informed Mr Davies how he had, since July 1991, paid out £165,000 in transfers. Between Mr Sutton’s letter of 9 May 1992 and the Actuary’s letter of 3 June 1992 the Actuary
 had the opportunity to comment on the level of transfer values paid out. The fact that he did not do so was a breach of his duty to the Scheme to query at what level transfer values were being paid out and to advise whether this was the correct level.

75.3. The letter of 30 June 1992 from NU to Mr Sutton (which dealt with the transfer values to be provided for deferred members who accrued benefits up to 31 May 1992) was contrary to NU’s belief that Cables had not been formally adhered to the Scheme. There was no warning from NU that the transfer values should be reduced to take into account that the other deferred pensioners were receiving 90% of their transfer values as of 1991. 

75.4. It is clear from Mr Peter’s letter of 22 January 1993 that he was fully aware that 90% of the full transfer values was being paid out and that a further batch was to be paid out. However, he did not try to prevent the further batch of transfer values being authorised.

75.5. Mr Sutton informed Mr Peters in his letter of 12 February 1993 of the extent of the transfer values he was at present paying out. Given the urgency of Mr Peter’s letter of 22 January 1993 it is questionable why it was not until March 1993 that he replied stating that he assumed that the Trustees were taking advice from alternative advisers as to the transfer values. This point was not raised with the Trustees until the funding of the Scheme was in decline and indicates that NU was merely trying to deny responsibility. 

75.6. NU never advised the Trustees as to the implications of the Contracting Out Certificate being cancelled and the implications in respect of transfers out especially since NU provided actuarial services limited to advice required by the Inland Revenue and the DSS.

75.7. NU had a duty to prevent the transfer values being paid at such excessive levels. There is a clear breach by the actuary’s duties to advise the Trustees of the implications of paying out excessive transfer values, of the cancellation of the Contracting Out Certificate and of the transfer values of deferred pensioners who retired as of 31 May 1992. The transfer values included accrued benefits to that date even though NU had continually disputed that there was a principal employer to the Scheme after the liquidation of Ripaults.

76. NU say:

76.1. As early as May 1991 it was made clear to the Trustees that the Scheme had a reducing fund value and increasing liabilities. The Actuary highlighted this again in his letter of 5 March 1993 to the Trustees. This was also discussed at the meeting in June 1993.

76.2. Despite indicators to the contrary at least one of the Trustees was taking advice from a third party actuary consultant about the Scheme ie Mercers. 

76.3. The letter of 4 June 1993 from OPB to the Trustees seemed to suggest that the Trustees were making transfers without discussing them with the Actuary and expressed concern to the Trustees about the amount of the transfers. NU expressed concern on this too in the letter to the Trustees of 5 March 1993. In their letter they emphasised that full transfer values were not recommended. 

76.4. The decision on whether transfers should take place and their amount rests with the Trustees. NU had highlighted its concerns. Transfers were member specific and were made on the instructions of the Trustees. The decision to make the transfers after the Contracting Out Certificate had been cancelled was again a decision for the Trustees. NU did not have a duty or power to prevent these. It requested OPB to prevent the transfers and that is as much as it could reasonably be expected to have done. It was not within the Actuary’s power to stop transfers from the Scheme. Nevertheless NU highlighted their concerns with the OPB, kept it informed and liased with the PSO.

Failure to wind up the Scheme,
77. The complainants say:

77.1. Although the decision to wind up the Scheme rested exclusively with the Trustees,  NU failed, in its role as administrator and actuarial adviser, to advise the Trustees of the consequences of not winding up the Scheme following the liquidation of Ripaults and Cables, especially in the light of the funding concerns of the Scheme which were highlighted early in 1990. NU also failed to ensure that the Trustees took appropriate action in winding up the Scheme as soon as possible.

77.2. NU only suggested the winding up of the Scheme on the liquidation of Ripaults but even then no deed of adherence in respect of Cables was forthcoming, NU still did not continually recommend that the  Scheme should be wound up. It was the role of the Scheme actuary to advise the Trustees when it was in the best interests of the members to wind up the Scheme as a result of the funding position of the Scheme.

77.3. Even on 25 May 1992 when the Actuary advised that the assets were only just sufficient to cover the liabilities on a statutory minimum basis of active and deferred members, there was no mention or advice by NU as to the winding up of the Scheme.  

77.4. The evidence shows that the Trustees were not taking advice from third party actuaries and that they believed that NU was providing actuarial advice, investment services and administration services, excluding the production of documentation. However, it was not until June 1993, when the Scheme was completely insolvent that NU made clear the services for which it assumed responsibility. 

77.5. In the circumstances, NU should have been more proactive in relation to the administration of the Scheme, the commencement of the wind up process and its completion. The Trustees committed clear breaches of trust which NU both knew about and could have prevented. As professional advisers to the Trustees, NU had an obligation to tell the Trustees what they could or could not do.  If such advice was ignored by the Trustees, N U should have resigned from office.

78. NU say :

78.1. They did inform the Trustees about winding up in the letter from the Actuary of 17 September 1993 and discharged any responsibility they had in so doing. The decision to wind up rests with the Trustees and NU had no duty to ensure that the Trustees commenced winding up.  Arguably it was outside an administrator’s role to advise on the consequences of a Scheme winding up but in its limited role NU did mention this issue to the Trustees.

78.2. The letter from Mercers dated 29 May 1990 to NU is evidence that Mercers were discussing the future of the Scheme with the Trustees and that the Trustees were taking advice from other actuaries about the possibility of winding up.

CONCLUSIONS

79. Under the Act, I have jurisdiction to consider complaints about “ a person… concerned with the administration of …the scheme”. The Court of Appeal, in the Britannic case, held that although an Insurance Company providing full or partial administrative services (particularly if it charged a fee for them) might be a person concerned with the administration of the scheme, if it did no more than administer its own assets and calculate from time to time the amount it was liable to pay under a unit-linked policy then it would be in much the same position as the trustees’ bankers or other depositary and was no more concerned with the administration of a scheme than others who had contracted to make payments to the trustees. In Britannic the notional allocation or cancellation of units were administrative acts but could not properly be regarded as the administration of the scheme.  The Court of Appeal confirmed that a person responsible for the management of a scheme or concerned only with the “financing of “ or only with “the provision of benefits under” a scheme is not an administrator of that scheme.

80. The law has,  since Britannic, been changed by section 275 of the Pensions Act 2004 but that change does not have retrospective effect. 

81. The facts in the matter now before me are significantly different from those in Britannic. NU undertook to provide and did provide limited administrative and actuarial services whereas there was no such arrangement made by Britannic.  NU did charge a fee for the provisions of such services and were involved in maintaining and reconciling membership records, recording contributions and transfer values and dealing with government and regulatory agencies.

82. Seemingly, NU’s  role did not, however,  extend to corresponding directly  with members. This is confirmed in the correspondence with Mr Swannell concerning his pension in 1990 and 1992 to which I have referred. This and other correspondence also indicates that a considerable amount of administration in connection with the Scheme was carried out in-house by Mr Sutton, reflecting the fact that NU’s agreement had been to provide partial administrative services.

83. I am satisfied that, applying the test set out in Britannic, NU should be regarded as a person concerned with the administration of the scheme. The more difficult question is to establish whether, in such a capacity, NU had a responsibility to intervene in the way that the Applicants envisage. 

84. That difficulty primarily arises from the absence of documentary evidence spelling out what was intended to be the extent of NU’s responsibilities. The only documentary evidence is that in Mr Mark’s letter of 18 November 1986, referring to NU providing “reduced administrative services”  and NU’s letters of 11 December 1986 and 2 March 1987. I have seen no other specific terms of appointment or specific documentation setting out in any greater detail the precise nature of the responsibilities that the Trustees engaged NU to undertake. NU have provided a copy of the Policy and, in the absence of any other documentary evidence as to the terms of the relationship between the Trustees and NU, I consider that it is more likely than not that the terms and conditions of the Master Policy are, in essence, the same as those of the Norwich Union Managed Fund Policy. I therefore treat them as such. 

85. In considering whether there was a responsibility on NU as the provider of “reduced administrative services” to take (or prevent) action as envisaged by the Applicants,  I need to take account of the contractual obligations which they owed to the Trustees and also of any obligations imposed by the general law or the specific Regulatory regime as is applied to Pensions.

86. The Policy sets out the rights and obligations of the parties. The Policy was issued by NU to the Trustees to be held by them subject to the terms and conditions of the Trust Deed and Rules of the Scheme. Options and provisions under the Policy exercisable by the Trustees were, under Clause 1.22, to “be exercised only in such a manner and to the extent permitted by the Scheme provisions”. NU were the insurers and their primary responsibility, under the Policy, was to invest and manage the assets of the Scheme. A crucial difference between the position of the parties was that NU’s obligations under the Policy were contractual and were directed towards the Trustees whereas the obligations of the Trustees under the Policy were contractual as regards NU but were also fiduciary as regards the beneficiaries of the Scheme. 

Should NU have advised against or prevented the issue of the loans?

87. Clause 5.1 of the Policy makes clear that, following receipt of a written instruction from the Trustees to surrender the Policy, or any part of it, NU were obliged to sell sufficient units to provide “ the amount required by the Trustees for the purposes of the Scheme”. Whether or not the amount was required by the Trustees “for the purposes of the Scheme”, in my view, was principally a matter for the Trustees.  It was not a condition of NU’s compliance with its obligations under the Clause 5 that it should first satisfy itself that the amount required by the Trustees was for the purposes of the Scheme. Therefore, in my view, under the terms of the Policy, NU were not obliged to enquire into or to satisfy themselves as to the purpose of the payments.

88. That is not to say that NU were entitled to turn a blind eye if, on the face of it, it was clear that there was good reason to suspect that the funds were required for an unlawful or illegal purpose. Nor would NU be absolved of responsibility if, as in the case of Royal Brunei Airlines v Tan to which NU have referred, they had dishonestly assisted in a breach of trust. The Applicants have made no such allegations. 

89. NU were proactive to the extent of recognising the need for a Certificate of Solvency to be provided and indeed the Actuary advised in November 1989 that no further assets be removed until an Actuarial Report had been provided. In proffering that advice and alerting the Occupational Pensions Board, the Actuary seems to me to have discharged such responsibility as NU had as the provider of administrative services, bearing in mind that it was not part of NU’s role to advise on the soundness of the proposed investments. The change from investment in NU’s fund to self-investment in the Employer’s business did not of itself immediately change the asset valuation of the scheme.  

90. It is not necessary for me to determine, for the purposes of this determination, whether or not the Loans were in breach of the trust. I note, however, that the Trustees’ investment powers were wide and that the wording of the Supplemental Deed does not clearly prohibit loans of the kind that were made so as to put NU on notice of a possible breach.  The Loans were to be secured on standard terms and the fact that they were made to the Principal Employer and associated companies of itself would not have suggested that they were other than “for the purposes of the Scheme”. Limited self-investment was permissible at that time. The fact that NU had no knowledge of the specific purpose of the Loans and that it would have been commercially impractical to make them a party to such information is supported by the contents of Mr Sutton’s letter to NU of 10 January 1990. In the letter he asks NU to assist in securing a significant contract for Vergelake by confirming, specifically, that the Loans had been made to finance major contracts but that because of their confidentiality NU had not been informed of the nature of the contracts. 

Allegedly excessive administration costs 

91. The submissions made to me by the Applicants under this heading seem not to be about administrative costs but about the payment of some transfer values. 

92. The only fact I can see relevant to administrative costs is that in paragraph 68 where NU queried what administrative expenses were being incurred by the Trustees beyond the charges made by NU. I see no reason to criticise NU in that context. 

Payment of allegedly excessive transfer values and benefits

93. There is no suggestion that NU made mistakes in calculating the transfer payments and values. NU’s advice from at least October 1990 was that transfer values should be restricted. 

94. NU cannot to my mind be made responsible for the Trustees’ decision to pay greater values than they had been advised. 

Failing to advise the Trustees as regards the winding up of the Scheme

95. NU say that that they did advise the Trustees in September 1993 that winding up might be necessary having highlighted the possibility in June 1993.  The essence of the Applicants’ case is that such advice should have been offered three years earlier.  But even if I accept the Applicant’s view I am not persuaded that there is any causal link between these acts and the loss they claim. Given the underfunding of the Scheme, I regard as unrealistic, or at any rate too speculative, the claim that had the winding-up proceeded more quickly there would have been a surplus from which the Applicants could have benefited. The Actuarial Report of 1 July 1991 makes clear that if the Scheme had been wound up as at June 1991, (i.e. much earlier) the assets would still not have been sufficient to meet liabilities. 

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

21 September 2006 
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